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1.0 Performance Report

1.1 Overview

This part of our Annual Report (the Performance Report) describes our purpose and
activities, our business model and the environment in which we operate, our structure,
objectives, strategies, and the key issues and risks that we face.

1.1.1 Chair’s Introduction
I am pleased to present the Commission’s Annual Report and Accounts for 2018/19.
Over the past twelve months, we have delivered the most diverse programme of electoral
reviews since our establishment in 2010. This is the consequence of adding two further work
strands alongside reviews intended to address electoral inequality and reviews in response to
local authorities seeking changes in their governance arrangements.
First, following Parliaments approval for 5 new authorities to be established (Bournemouth,
Christchurch & Poole; Dorset; West Somerset & Taunton; East Suffolk and West Suffolk) in place
of 14 previously existing local authorities, we have completed reviews on them. Working closely
with the authorities concerned, and with the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local
Government and other stakeholders, we have been able to provide electoral arrangements in
time for the formal establishment of these five new councils in May 2019. This has been
achieved despite a challenging timetable and whilst maintaining the rigour that underpins all our
reviews. We are grateful to all partners who have assisted in this task.
The second new element has been to instigate a work strand reflecting our statutory duty to carry
out an electoral review of every local authority in England from time to time. In line with that
responsibility, we have commenced electoral reviews of London boroughs, most of which have
not been reviewed for around twenty years. Councils in London will remain a core part of our
programme in 2019/20 as we work to fulfil this duty.
We have also maintained the two long-standing pillars of our programme. The Commission has
completed 21 reviews of local authorities with high levels of electoral inequality and we have
carried out eight requested electoral reviews to enable councils to change their electoral cycle or
their number of councillors as part of better governance. Delivering fairness for voters in local
elections and helping councils deliver better local government will continue to drive our work in
the future.
We have made efficiencies across the organisation to deliver this ambitious programme. Our
budget has either reduced or been frozen every year since 2010 which means that we have
continued to streamline processes, build capacity online and work differently with our partners.
The pressures on our budget will inevitably continue in future years and, whilst we have a good
record of achieving more with less, we may need to consider the impact on outputs in future
years.
In undertaking our work, we rely upon, and receive support from, a wide range of partners. I
would like, therefore, to thank elected members, council staff and colleagues at the Ministry of
Housing, Communities & Local Government for their considerable support and cooperation in all
the reviews we have completed. We are committed to adopting a collaborative and constructive
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approach in all our work and this has only been possible by the reciprocal help of our partners.
This is also an opportunity to express appreciation to fellow Commissioners and staff for their
professionalism and dedication throughout the year. Finally, I would like to thank Mr. Speaker
and the Speaker’s Committee for their support and guidance. Bridget Phillipson MP, Lord Harris
and the Earl Cathcart speak on our behalf in Parliament and I am grateful to them for agreeing to
undertake this role.

Professor Colin Mellors
Chair, Local Government Boundary Commission for England
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1.1.2 Purpose, activities, issues & risks
Our Mission
To sustain democratic equality in local government in England.
Our Vision




We are an independent body that consults and decides on the most appropriate electoral
arrangements for Local Government.
We promote openness, integrity, and rigour in all our dealings.
We use our resources responsibly and always strive to do things better.

Our Values




Openness
Rigour
Integrity

Our Business Model & Environment
We have a team of 21 staff reporting to a Commission comprising a Chair and five
Commissioners. Our Commissioners and structure are detailed on the following pages.
Our work takes us throughout England and we use a mixture of public transport and hire cars.
We have reduced our usage of paper significantly over recent years and, where possible, we use
digital maps and digital meeting packs.
Conscious of being financed with public money, we have developed, adhere to, and regularly
review policies to ensure that we act appropriately. These are described in our Governance
Statement at section 2.1.2.
Issues and Risks
The Commission’s top risks (before controls and assurances) are;
1)

Failure to gain Speaker’s Committee Support - The Commission takes seriously liaison
with the Speaker, his Committee and the Committee Clerks.

2)

Information Security Management - This is a key risk for most organisations as
developments and increases in cyber-attacks continue.

3)

Commission or Audit & Risk Committee becomes inquorate - This is a risk which is, to
a degree, outside of our control but nevertheless can have a large impact on LGBCE’s
ability to conduct its business.

Our risks and risk management approach are explored further in our Governance statement at
section 2.1.2
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1.1.3 Commissioners and Advisors
Professor Colin Mellors OBE
Chair
Professor Colin Mellors was appointed Chair of the Commission on 1 January
2016, following a period as Deputy Chair.
Colin is Emeritus Professor of Politics at the University of York, where he
recently served for eight years as Pro-Vice-Chancellor. Previously, he held a
similar position at the University of Bradford. He is a Visiting Professor at the
University of Huddersfield and, earlier in his career, held academic posts at the
universities of Southampton and Sheffield.
He is a Board Member of the York, North Yorkshire & East Riding Local
Enterprise Partnership and Chair of the Yorkshire Regional Flood and Coastal
Committee. Previous roles include being a Non-Executive Director of the
Government Office for Yorkshire & Humber.
Although a career academic, he has devoted significant time to roles in the
public sector focusing on local government, business development and capacity
building with private sector and community partners.
Colin was awarded an OBE in June 2017 for services to economic development
in Yorkshire.

Peter Maddison QPM
Commissioner
Peter Maddison is currently the Chair of the Armed Forces' Pay Review Body,
a member of the Senior Salaries Review Body, and Trustee of the Creating
Tomorrow Multi Academy Trust, Northamptonshire, which focuses on pupils
with Special Educational Needs.
Previously, Peter was Chair of the Security and Emergency Services division of
Atmaana Consulting from 2013 to 2018. He was a member of the Prison Service
Pay Review Body from 2013 to 2018, and Deputy Chair of a Parish Council in
Northamptonshire from 2014 to 2018. He was also one of the leaders in the
development and implementation of the Police Safety and Security Strategy for
the 2012 London Olympic Games from 2009-2012. This Olympic work was a
continuance of his police career of 34 years in which he worked in Durham,
Hertfordshire and finally as the Chief Constable of Northamptonshire
Constabulary. As Chief Constable, Peter led nationally on Performance
Management for Policing, was the East Midlands regional Chair, and was the
strategic lead for a variety of other national initiatives.
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Susan Johnson OBE
Commissioner
Susan Johnson was the Chief Executive at County Durham and Darlington Fire
and Rescue Service until her retirement in July 2015. The appointment meant
Susan was the first woman and non-uniformed chief executive to lead a Fire
and Rescue Service in the United Kingdom.
Susan previously held the position of Chief Executive of the Northern Business
Forum and Executive Director, Business Development for the Regional
Development Agency, Yorkshire Forward. Susan has held a number of nonexecutive roles throughout her career including Greggs plc, Legacy Trust UK
and was a Public Member for Network Rail. She is currently a Commissioner
with the Equality and Human Rights Commission; a Non-Executive Director with
the Health and Safety Executive, the Planning Inspectorate and the Sports
Grounds Safety Authority.
Susan holds a first-class honours degree in Business Studies and an MBA from
Durham University, where she also serves as a Trustee on the Board. Susan
was awarded an OBE for services to New Deal in the North East in 2000.

Andrew Scallan CBE
Commissioner

Andrew Scallan served as Director of Electoral Administration at the Electoral
Commission for 10 years until January 2017 and was the Deputy Chief Counting
Officer at the referendum on membership of the European Union in 2016.
Before joining the Electoral Commission, he worked for Manchester City
Council in a range of roles including democratic and regulatory services. He is
also an Honorary Member of the Association of Electoral Administrators and is
a former joint editor of Schofield's Election Law.
Andrew was appointed CBE in January 2016 for services to electoral
democracy.

Steve Robinson
Commissioner
Steve Robinson has 20 years’ experience of holding senior positions in both
local government and housing associations. Steve was the first chief executive
of the new unitary council in Cheshire West and Chester Council established in
September 2008. Before joining Cheshire West and Chester Council, he was
the chief executive of Stoke-on-Trent City Council.
Steve was appointed by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG) to oversee the improvement of Birmingham City
Council as a member of the Birmingham Independent Improvement Panel
between 2015 and March 2019.
Page | 6

Amanda Nobbs OBE
Commissioner
Amanda Nobbs is a St George’s Leadership Fellow. Amanda was Chair of the
Thames Regional Flood and Coastal Committee for eight years, working with
Local Councils across London and the South East, and she served on the Defra
Flood Programme Board, the Mayor of London’s Water Advisory Group and on
the Strategic Programme Boards for a number of major infrastructure projects.
Her public service has also included Advisory Committee appointments relating
to environmental protection, waste management, waterways and tourism.
Previously, she was Chief Executive of the Council for National Parks for 10
years, a role which included working in Parliament and with Local Authorities
across England and Wales.
Amanda also has extensive experience of working with residents’ groups
providing a community perspective on engaging with local government.
Amanda was awarded an OBE in 2017 for services to flood risk management
and protection of the environment.

Lizzie Peers
Independent Member, Audit & Risk Committee
Lizzie Peers is a qualified chartered public accountant with over 20 years’
experience as an external auditor working across the UK public sector. She
worked as a senior manager for the Audit Commission and for Ernst & Young
LLP, a global accountancy and consulting firm. Her expertise includes
supporting and influencing boards across a wide range of public sector
organisations to strengthen their strategic, governance, financial and value for
money arrangements.
She is currently a non-executive director on the board of an outstanding NHS
foundation trust hospital and is overseeing improvements at a neighbouring
trust which is in financial and quality special measures. In addition, she has a
portfolio of independent adviser/member roles with the National Police Chiefs’
Council (Vice Chair), the Ministry of Justice and SAAA Ltd, a national external
audit procurement company. She is also the treasurer and a trustee of a national
children’s charity and was previously a university lecturer in governance and
audit.
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1.1.4 Organisational Structure

Data and
Information Officer

Marcus Bowell
Director Strategy
and
Communications

Review Assistant x2

Jolyon Jackson
CBE
Chief Executive

Alison Evison
Review and
Programme
Manager (0.72 FTE)

Review Officer x2

Johanna Porter
Review Manager

Review Officer x2
Review Adviser x1

Richard Buck
Review Manager

Review Officer x3

Office Manager and
HR Lead

Finance Lead (0.89
FTE)

Lynn Ingram
Director Finance
and Resources (0.7
FTE)

Contracts and IT
Lead

Business Support
Officer
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1.1.5 Performance Summary
Strategic Objectives1
We will deliver fair electoral arrangements by:
 carrying out reviews to correct electoral imbalances
 carrying out reviews that have been requested by local authorities
We will deliver high quality reviews which consult & engage with communities
We will monitor the efficiency of our processes and keep our organisation fit for purpose
There are 343 local authorities in England (352 at 31/03/19)2. In agreeing its review programme,
the Commission seeks to balance requests for reviews with those that address electoral
imbalance and/or meet the duty to review all English authorities from time to time. In 2018/19, 34
per cent of all local authorities in England were deemed to have unsatisfactory balances by
meeting our intervention criteria.
The two tables below indicate the outcome of the review programme as at March 2019. Table 1
shows the reviews that were commenced in 2018/19 and Table 2 those reviews completed
during 2018/19. The Commission operates a rolling review programme and reviews generally do
not start and finish within the same financial year. However, as a minimum, the Commission
seeks to start 25 reviews and complete 25 electoral reviews each year.
Table 1 shows that the Commission started 25 reviews, as anticipated, in 2018/19. The
objectives for this period included:




10 reviews to tackle electoral inequality,
10 as part of a programme of Periodic Electoral Reviews (PERs) and;
5 request reviews.

The programme of periodic reviews (PERs) was new for 2018/19 and those reviews will be
completed as part of the 2019/20 programme.
Three reviews - Brent, Westminster and Newham – met both periodic and intervention criteria.
The Commission includes requested reviews in its programme each year. During this period, we
were requested by the Secretary of State for MHCLG to review the newly-established authorities
of Dorset, Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole, East Suffolk, West Suffolk and Somerset West &
Taunton. These reviews took place over a shorter timescale and were started and completed in
the same financial year.
A request from Pendle Borough Council was also agreed with a view to implementation at its
elections in 2020. The Commission always tries to accommodate such requests and, on this
occasion, was able to defer one of the London boroughs, which does not elect until 2022, into the
2019/20 programme in order to undertake the Pendle review.

1
2

See Glossary page 24

In May 2019, 5 new authorities were established (Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole; Dorset; West Somerset & Taunton;
East Suffolk and West Suffolk) in place of 14 previously existing local authorities.
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Table 1: Reviews Commenced in 2018/19
Objectives set
Outcomes
Objective:
We will commence reviews
in 10 local authority areas
that tackle electoral
inequality

Objective:
We will commence reviews
in 10 local authority areas
as part of the programme of
PERs.

Outcome: Achieved
We commenced reviews of 10 local authorities.
Brent*
Cambridge
Chorley
Halton
Hartlepool

Isle of Wight
Newham*
Salford
Wiltshire
Westminster*

Outcome: Achieved3
We commenced reviews of 12 local authorities.
Barnet
Harrow
Brent *
Hillingdon
Camden
Hounslow
Ealing
Islington
Enfield
Newham*
Haringey
Westminster*
Outcome: Achieved
We commenced a review of one local authority as
requested by the council.

3

Objective:
We will commence reviews
in 5 local authority areas
that are requested either by
the local authority or by the
Secretary of State.

Pendle

Total: 25

Total: 25

We commenced reviews of 5 newly-established
local authorities as requested by the Secretary of
State.
Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole
Dorset
East Suffolk
Somerset West & Taunton
West Suffolk

Brent, Newham and Westminster not only met the intervention criteria but were also part of the programme of PERs.
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Table 2 lists the 34 reviews completed by the Commission in 2018/19. This was nine more that
our target of 25. A further three reviews that had been scheduled for completion in 2018/19 were
deferred to 2019/20 to allow for periods of further consultation.
Table 2: Reviews Completed in 2018/19
Objectives set
Outcomes
Outcome: Achieved
We completed reviews of 23 local authorities
Objective:
We will complete reviews
in 20 local authority areas
that tackle electoral
inequality

Basingstoke & Deane
Bath & North East
Somerset
Cambridge
Carlisle
Chorley
Cornwall
Crawley
Dartford
East Hampshire
Hartlepool
Kings Lynn & West Norfolk

Mid Suffolk*4
North Devon
Norwich
Nottingham
Oxford
Redcar & Cleveland
Reigate & Banstead
Runnymede
Rutland
Salford
South Somerset

Outcome: Achieved

Objective:
We will complete reviews
in 5 local authority areas
that were requested either
by the local authority or by
the Secretary of State.

Total: 25

We completed a review of 5 newly-established local
authorities
Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole
Dorset
East Suffolk
Somerset West & Taunton
West Suffolk
We completed a review of 7 local authorities
Babergh
Copeland
Dover
Richmondshire
Scarborough
Warwick
Windsor & Maidenhead
Total: 35

In addition to these reviews, the Commission agreed 13 Related Alterations and 19 Consent
Reviews.

4

Mid Suffolk not only met the intervention criteria but also requested the review
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1.2 Performance Analysis
1.2.1 Performance Review
State of Electoral Balance in England
An important consideration for the Commission is the level of electoral balance that exists in
English local government. Currently, the Commission deems that where more than 30 per cent
of wards have variances of +/- 10 per cent of the norm for that authority, or a single ward has a
variance of greater than +/- 30 per cent, then that is an unacceptable level of electoral equality. 5
A variety of factors that affect electoral equality – including population growth, migration,
development, individual electoral registration, and student populations - are outside the
Commission’s control. However, electoral equality underpins the rationale for the Commission
and the need to review all local authorities on a continuing basis to achieve fair electoral
boundaries. The level of electoral equality also inform how the Commission constructs its work
programme – i.e. the mix of (i) periodic, (ii) intervention and (iii) requested reviews – given that
some authorities will require more frequent reviews in order to avoid unacceptable levels of
electoral equality. Such data allows the Commission to adapt its work programme to deliver what
is considered the most appropriate mix of review types. The two graphs below indicate the state
of electoral balance based on (i) the proportion of local authorities with good6 levels of electoral
equality (ii) the proportion of local electors enjoying good levels of electoral equality. Inevitably,
the first graph (‘a’ below) is affected by the number of local authorities that have been reviewed
and the latter (‘b’ below) by the electorate size of the local authorities concerned. Both graphs
are measured at a set point (previous December) and will not, therefore, change during the
subsequent 12 months until the next annual data are generated.
(a)

Percentage of authorities with good electoral equality

Percentage of electors with good levels of equality

2017/18

62.4% (+0.4%)

62%

2017

(b)

2018

Percentage of electors with good electoral equality

Percentage of authorities with good electoral equality

2017/18

66.3% (-2.9%)

69%

2011
2018

5
6

This is our Intervention criteria
Good is defined as not meeting our intervention criteria (see footnote 1 page 9)
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Comment
The Commission’s statutory requirement to review all local authorities ‘from time-to-time’ through
periodic electoral reviews (PERs) means that there will be less opportunity within existing
resources for intervention reviews over the next few years, as the Commission seeks to review
the many authorities that have not been included since the last series of comprehensive reviews
was completed in 2003. Also, the Commission wishes to meet requests for reviews to assist
local authorities seeking governance changes, again reducing the potential capacity for
intervention reviews. Accordingly, the current five-year programme will be a mix of review types,
but the Commission will closely monitor the overall levels of electoral equality in order to avoid
electoral equality across England becoming unacceptable. Also, where appropriate, it will seek
to address both ‘periodic’ and ‘intervention’ objectives in individual reviews.
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
Introduction
The 2018/19 KPI outcomes are shown below. Each is accompanied by a commentary together
with an overall commentary at the end of the section.
This is the first year that the Commission has used the new KPIs that were developed during
2017/18. They are intended to be wider ranging and more challenging than those previously used
and reflect our desire to improve continuously all areas of our business.
Scorecard7

Overall Management Summary
As envisaged, the Commission has tested and challenged the results during this first year of
using our new indicators. An issue for the Commission is providing meaningful operational KPIs,
that we can actually influence and taking appropriate corrective actions. For example, securing
electoral equality throughout England is a key driver for the Commission’s existence and yet our

7

The scorecard is visited in detail in the following pages. Green boxes indicate targets met and Amber where results are close
to target
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actions are just one amongst several factors in achieving that objective.
KPI 1 measures our core operational work. The challenge continues to be focusing on all of our
objectives within financial constraints, both for ourselves and for the local authorities we review.
KPI 2 (Stakeholder Engagement) reflects the investment that has been made in this area over
the last few years. In 2019/20 we will begin measuring our interactions on social media.
KPI 3 (effective use of resources) is, of course, the easiest to measure quantitatively and it is
pleasing that the organisation performs well in terms of governance and back office services. In
a large part, it is believed that this reflects the efforts made over several years to rationalise back
office contracts and taking more internal control regarding their operation. Proportionality balancing governance requirements, the size of our organisation and the cost of providing back
office services - continues to challenge the Commission.
In general:







Numbers to the right of the graphs denote the targets set at the start of this year
Figures in brackets within the graph indicate variations from the target.
Lines depict trends (where appropriate, year dates have been added to the trend line)
KPIs represented in ‘green’ meet, or exceed, their targets.
KPIs represented in ‘amber’ are at or around target and, whilst requiring careful attention,
might not require immediate corrective action
KPIs represented in ‘red’ fall short of the target and, unless there is an exceptional
explanation, include a description of the action to be taken to improve performance

KPI 1 Electoral Reviews
These measures indicate the delivery and mix of electoral reviews as agreed in our annual plan
for the Speaker’s Committee.
The summary of our reviewed completed against target are included in pages 9 to 11
(Performance Summary).
KPI 1A Agreed programme mix8

8

3 reviews were both intervention and periodic but overall 25 were planned and 25 were started
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Each year, the Commission agrees with the Speaker’s Committee to undertake a number and
variety of reviews reflecting its mission ‘to sustain fair electoral arrangements and keep the map
of English local government in good order’. Reviews generally take about 15 months from start
to finish and, therefore, straddle financial years. The graph below indicates the number and type
of review agreed for the 2018/19 period and the equivalent numbers started during that year.
Comment
The Commission started its programme of periodic electoral reviews by reviewing ten London
boroughs that had not been reviewed for over 12 years. Three of these boroughs also met the
Commission’s intervention criteria allowing us to address two of our objectives simultaneously.
The third group of reviews are typically those requested by local authorities themselves.
However, this year five of the six reviews this year followed the Secretary State’s decision to
establish new authorities. The number of requests in subsequent years may, therefore, fall if
there is reduced demand. If so, this will allow the Commission to bring forward PERs.
KPI 1B Reviews completed in time for election
This shows the percentage of all reviews that were completed in time for the election agreed at
the start of the review process. Since reviews often straddle financial years, the figure includes
reviews whose orders were laid in the present financial year. The performance measured is the
cumulative position for the year and our target is 100%.

2017

reviews completed in time for election

Target

97.0%

100%
2018

Comment
Although the Commission completed a record number of reviews during 2018/19, in one case Basingstoke and Deane – the Commission needed (with the agreement of the Council) to delay
implementation by a year to re-review our consultation. This arose because having identified a
process error, we took the decision to pause the review and to re-consider all submissions
received. The Commission looked carefully at the reasons for the error and has introduced
changes to prevent its recurrence.
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KPI 1C Forecasting
In making its recommendations, the Commission is required to take into account the likely
number of electors at the period five years after the publication of its Final Recommendations
(e.g. for reviews competed during 2018, the forecast would be an assessment of the electorate in
that local authority in 2023). Whilst intended to achieve some degree of future proofing, this can
be challenging given the unevenness of housing and other development activity between
authority areas and changing economic conditions. The graphic below depicts the accuracy of
forecasts and is measured at a set point (annually the previous December). Our target is to
improve from the previous year’s figure. It should be noted that having forecast five years into
the future there is obviously a time lag before the accuracy can be measured (i.e. figures for
2018/19 reflect forecasts made in 2013/14) and the Commission changed its forecasting
methodology in 2017 so that the impact of this change cannot be assessed until 2022.

5-year forecasting accuracy

Target

73% (-1%)

74%

2017

2018

Comment
Forecasting elector numbers is an important aspect of our work to create electoral arrangements
that will stand the test of time. While forecasting electors is an inexact science, we work with local
authorities knowledge of development and registration rates to inform these forecasts so that
they can be as reliable as possible. We will continue to refine the tools we use.
KPI 1D Reviewing Authorities ‘from time to time’
The Commission has a statutory requirement to undertake electoral reviews of all authorities
‘from time-to-time’. We call these reviews ‘periodic electoral reviews’. Although in recent years,
following the completion by our predecessor body of a comprehensive review programme, the
Commission has prioritised reviews of authorities with electoral inequality and those that have
been requested by local authorities or following the establishment of new authorities, this duty to
review all authorities from ‘time to time’ remains important. This figure is measured at a set point
(annually the previous December) and our target is to improve from the previous year’s figure.

authorities reviewed 'from time to time' (in last 12 yrs)

Target

49% (-)

> 49%

2017

2018
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Comment
This is the first year that the Commission has started undertaking periodic electoral reviews since
our establishment in 2010. We plan to start ten reviews of this type every year. The impact of the
reviews started this year will be realised next year when the reviews are completed.
KPI 2 Stakeholder Engagement
The Commission is committed to working closely with key stakeholders and to using the most
effective means of doing so, including through a customer-focused consultation portal and
targeted social media. This second group of KPIs indicates the effectiveness of our engagement
with key stakeholders and associated levels of satisfaction. They include response times, levels
of interest and feedback. Also, where appropriate, they are benchmarked against the
Commission’s specified service standards9
KPI 2A Stakeholder Satisfaction
Satisfaction levels are elicited through an on-going stakeholder survey that is attached to all
reviews and similar correspondence and relevant material. It calculates the number of ‘positive’
answers to questions from respondents as a percentage of all answers. Last year (2017/18), we
achieved a 74% satisfaction rating overall. This year, we were marginally above our 80% target.
The performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is now 80%
(increased from 70% previously). In addition to this quantitative measure, the Commission
regularly considers the qualitative comments that are made as part of our satisfaction surveys.

stakeholder satisfaction

Target

81.2% (+1.2%)

80%

2017

2018

Comment
We reviewed our survey in 2016 to attempt to distinguish between views about how satisfied
respondents were with the processes of the review from those about its outcome. We also made
the survey easier to complete which increased the number of responses.
KPI 2B Website Sessions
Achieving widespread knowledge about our reviews and publicising the opportunities for
individuals to participate are important objectives for the Commission. This figure, therefore,
indicates the number of individual visits to our website where the user ‘engaged’.10 The KPI
reflects the cumulative position for the year and our target is 256,000 sessions (based on

9

The Commission’s Correspondence Policy is available on request

10

A “session” is defined as completion of a task on our website i.e. more than just opening our website
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previous year’s figure).

website sessions

Target

258,464 (+1%)

256,000

2017

2018

Comment
The Commission invested in its website during 2017/18 and combined the operating platform of
the website with the consultation portal. We intend to invest further during 2019/20 to enable
more website updates to be completed in-house in order to reduce maintenance costs for the
future. The Commission intends to continue to encourage stakeholders to engage but anticipates
that this figure might decline next year with fewer high-profile reviews.
KPI 2C Responding to Correspondence
This KPI measures the percentage of correspondence items responded to within our service
standards (in the case of FOIs and Complaints - 20 working days; for other correspondence 15
working days).
The performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is 95% (based
on our Service Standards as above).

2017

responding to correspondence

Target

99.2%

95%
2018

Comment
The volume of review submissions increased significantly this year, from 3,964 in 2017/18 to
5,753 - an increase of 45%. The reason for the increase is that reviews of the five newlyestablished authorities, in support of the Secretary of State’s decisions, led to large volumes of
public submissions.
We introduced SharePoint and GDPR across the Commission this year and the process for
dealing with submissions (consultation comments and views) has changed as a result. The table
above (99% of which are review submissions) measures the acknowledgements sent when
submissions are received by the Commission.
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KPI 3 Effective Use of Resources
Like every public body, the Commission is mindful of its need to be efficient and transparent in
the use of its resources. The third group of measures is, therefore, intended to indicate the
effectiveness and the efficiency of organisation.
KPI 3A NAO Audit
The Commission seeks to achieve an unqualified audit opinion on our financial
statements/accounts. The annual NAO audit includes an opinion on regularity containing a
positive confirmation that the Statement of Parliamentary Supply properly presents the outturn
against voted Parliamentary control totals (budget) for the financial year and shows that those
totals have not been exceeded.

unqualified NAO opinion

Target

Yes

Yes

2017

2018

KPI 3B Review costs/ expenditure and budget
Since its establishment as a stand-alone body in 2010, the Commission has significantly reduced
both overall expenditure and budget and the cost of individual reviews, whilst increasing the
number of reviews delivered. This represents a 25% decrease in overall budget and an average
58% reduction in the unit cost of reviews. Whilst the opportunities for further costs compression
are challenging, without compromising the volume, quality and rigour of our work, the
Commission is committed to maintaining the efficiency of the organisation.
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KPI 3C Review Programme as planned
Whilst delays to the publication of the final recommendations generally do not affect the election
date at which they are implemented, they can impact on both direct and indirect costs. Most
delays arise from the desire for further consultation or for a better outcome. They should not be
taken to imply inefficiency or procedural failings.
The performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is to increase
the previous year’s performance (55%)
% of final recommendations published when scheduled

Target

71.0%

55%

2018

2017

Comment
While the target may appear modest, the Commission believes that, on occasion, further
consultation and the ability to respond to local authorities’ needs by delaying various stages of
the review may require some flexibility in order to secure the most effective outcome and best
electoral arrangements. This can be achieved without compromising the ability to implement the
new arrangements at the intended election.
The reasons for delaying the publication of final recommendations include allowing councils
additional time to prepare accurate electorate data and/or to provide additional information on
their proposals about the number of councillors required, as well as the additional period of
consultation in some areas.
KPI 3D Recruitment
This measures the length of time involved in recruiting staff (i.e. the number of days from the date
of a post being approved to the issuing of an offer letter). The performance measured is the
cumulative position for the year and our target is 45 days. 11

recruitment time target

Target

35.3 days (-9.7 days)
2017

11

45 days
2018

45 days is 6 ½ weeks and this allows for a 3-week advertising period plus admin, shortlisting and interview time
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Comment
The Commission undertook five recruitment exercises during the year and all new recruits
passed their probationary period. This is the first year that we have used a recruitment target
days figure and become of the positive result the Commission is now reviewing the target days
for 2019/20 to ensure a challenging target remains.
KPI 3E Sickness
This measure indicates the annual sickness rate compared to the latest public-sector level. The
performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is to be lower than
the public sector average rate of 2.6% (ONS 2018).

sickness rate

Target

2.9%

>2.6%

2017

2018

Comment
The equivalent measure for 2017/18 was less than 1%. The rate is higher this year due to one
instance of long-term sickness.
KPI 3F Workforce Resilience (weighted staff turnover)
This measure indicates staff turnover and workforce resilience. Turnover figures are weighted to
reflect the numbers of different posts and the impact on the organisation of leavers within the
different groups.
The equivalent measure for 2017/18 was 12%.

2017

weighted staff turnover

Target

20.0%

17%
2018

Comment
This KPI reflects the reality of the Commissions staffing mix. We experience a fairly high turnover
in review posts as postholders leave to further their career, typically within the public sector but
we do have resilience as we have larger numbers of these posts. Business staff and managers
stay longer. Our recruitment, training processes and allocation of tasks take our turnover into
account and this ensures we have fresh views on our processes and transferable ideas from
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other organisations. However, we are a small organisation and we recognise that with an
expected turnover, resilience presents a challenge. The Commission will continue to consider this
area, the risks and the assurances.
KPI 3G Staff training
The Commission has a two-year training plan for each job role. The measure indicates the
percentage of the training plan completed within the year. (The performance measured is the
cumulative position for the year and our target is based on the two-year training plans, staff start
dates plus expected turnover). Performance for last year was not measured so there is no trend
line.
% of training plan completed

Target

78.1% (+15%)

63%

Comment
The Commission considers the development of its staff to be important and regularly reviews that
its planned training is occurring and still appropriate
KPI 3G Contract Performance
This measure indicates how well the Commission undertakes its contracting. It shows the
observed satisfaction12 with smaller contracts combined with SLA figures for the IT contract. The
performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is the agreed IT
SLA. (Performance for last year was not measured across all contracts so there is no trend line.)

contract performance

Target

92.4% (+7.4%)

85%

Comment
The Commission continues to find that our specific contracts are more resilient than our previous
arrangement where all services were delivered by one provider. Moving away from paper where
we can also means we are less reliant on printing and photocopying services to run our core

12

Each smaller contract is weighted, and a performance awarded (1 to 5) each month i.e. how well the photocopiers / telephones have
worked in month
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business.
KPI 3H Payments
This measure indicates whether the Commission is meeting its service standard for invoice
payments. The performance measured is the cumulative position for the year and our target is
our Service Standard (95% within 30 days).

2017

payments made within 30 days

Target

99.7 % (+4.7%)

95%
2018

Comment
The invoices paid within service standards last year (2017/18) was the same at 99.7%. The
percentage of invoices paid within 10 days for 2018/19 was 98.5% (2017/18 99.2%).
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Glossary
Electoral Reviews – reviews of the electoral arrangements of local authorities
Electoral Arrangements – include;




the total number of Councillors elected to the authority,
the names, number of and boundaries of each of the wards or electoral divisions and,
the number of Councillors elected to each ward or division.

Electoral Equality - All reviews seek to achieve a good level of electoral equality for voters.
Electoral equality has been achieved when each councillor represents approximately the same
number of electors as another councillor in another ward. For example, if an authority has
100,000 electors and 10 councillors then each councillor should represent 10,000 electors. The
Commission understand that perfect electoral equality is rarely achievable so a tolerance of +/10% variance is set. Each councillor could therefore represent as many as 11,000 and as few as
9,000 electors.
Electoral Imbalance - When the number of electors per councillor in any given ward or division
moves outside of the acceptable +/-10% variance this is flagged as electoral imbalance. Each
year the electoral equality and imbalance across all English wards is assessed and reviewed
against our intervention criteria. Where electoral imbalance is significant then the authority will be
approached for review.
Intervention criteria - The Commission have defined a set of criteria for measuring electoral
imbalance. We classify severe electoral imbalance to have occurred in authorities where either;



one ward has 30% more or fewer electors per Councillor than the average for the authority
or where 30% or more wards have 10% more or fewer electors than the average for the
authority.

Intervention Review - This type of electoral review will be triggered when an authority has
triggered our 'intervention criteria' and there is no indication that the electoral imbalance will
redress itself.
Consent Case - Electoral arrangements are protected for five years following a review. If during
this time the principal authority wishes to make changes to either its parish or warding
arrangements, then it must seek consent from the LGBCE before it is able to do so. The
Commission have delegated the power to grant consent to the Chief Executive of the
Commission unless the case is particular complex or controversial in which case it will be brought
before the entire Commission. The Commission would not normally reject the request for
consent, however each request is considered on a case by case basis. However, requests to
undo the recommendations put in place by the Commission or that significantly worsen electoral
equality are unlikely to be approved. Once the five-year period has passed the principal council
may carry out a CGR without the input of the Commission.
Community Governance Review (CGR) - The process by which a principal local authority
reviews and makes changes to the boundaries and electoral arrangements of parishes. Normally
such reviews make changes to the boundaries of existing parishes rather than creating entirely
new parishes. They are carried out often in response to a change in circumstance such as
changes in population or in reaction to specific or new local issues. Their aim is to ensure that
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community governance arrangements continue to reflect local identities and facilitate effective
and convenient local government. They may also be triggered by local people presenting public
petitions to the principal council.
Related Alteration - Following on from a CGR the principal council may wish to consider
whether they wish to make changes to the boundaries of their district or borough wards or county
divisions that reflect the changes made at parish level. These consequential changes are referred
to as related alterations and are usually requested to ensure a level of coterminosity between
parish, ward and division boundaries. The principal councils must request the LGBCE makes
these changes on their behalf. The Commission will not normally refuse such requests, but each
is taken on a case by case basis.
Periodic Electoral Review (PER)- The Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 stipulates that the Commission must review the electoral arrangements of
all local authorities from time to time. The Commission have defined 'from time to time' as at least
three full electoral cycles for those authorities that elect by thirds or at least 12 years, for some
this might be longer. The local authority will be reviewed as a PER and may neither have
requested the review nor have significant levels of electoral imbalance. The Commission are
currently undertaking a programme of PERs that started with the London Boroughs.
Local Authorities – is the organisation responsible for delivery public services and facilities to a
particular area. The LGCBE is concerned only with English local authorities. The term is used in
place of the words 'principal council' as defined by the legislation and refers to county councils,
unitary authorities, metropolitan district councils, borough councils, city councils and district
councils, the council of the Isles of Scilly. It does not include parish councils or the Greater
London Authority. There are currently 343 local authorities in England (352 at 31/03/2019).
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) - EU regulations that cover the collection and
use of personal data for all EU and EEA citizens. GDPR was implemented in May 2018 and are
designed to ensure that appropriate technical and organisational measures have been put in
place to facilitate the safeguarding and protection of individuals privacy.
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1.2.2 Financial Review
The Commission’s funding is provided by Parliament under Schedule 1(11) of the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. Parliamentary approval for its
spending plans is through a Main Supply Estimate, presented in the House of Commons by the
Speaker, specifying estimated expenditure and requesting a vote for the necessary funds.
The Main Supply Estimate for 2018/19 provided for a net resource requirement of £2,137k. This
is set out in our Corporate Plan Update for the period to 2022/23, which was approved by the
Speaker’s Committee in March 2018. During the year we adjusted the structure of our Estimate
to provide for £18,000 additional capital expenditure to pay final set up costs for the
Commission’s new office accommodation at Windsor House. This amounted to a reduction of
£18,000 in our Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL) resource leaving a revised estimate of
£2,119k.
Use of Resources - The Statement of Parliamentary Supply shows outturn figures for resources,
capital and cash set against the final Estimate. In 2018/19, the Commission used £2,086k of total
net resources.
Budget
£000
Total

2,119

Spend
£000
2,086

Variation
£000
(33)

Explanation
Minor budget variations and reduced
depreciation relating to Windsor House
commitments

Capital - In 2018/19, the Commission used £5k of capital against a revised budget of £68k.
Capital expenditure of £46k related to set up costs for the Commission’s new office
accommodation at Windsor House but this is now offset by £41k as Cabinet Office charges
relating to Windsor House common area set up costs accrued for in 2017/18 will now not
materialise or be charged to occupants of Windsor House.

The Commission’s
spend fell sharply in
2015/16 after our
review of back-office
services reflecting
the efficiencies we
gained by bringing
services in-house.

Cash - The Statement of Cash Flows analyses the net cash outflow from operating activities,
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cash spent on capital expenditure and investment, and the funding and amounts drawn down
from the Consolidated Fund during the year.
The Commission required cash amounting to £2,043k in 2018/19 to finance its activities, which
was £215k less than the sum of £2,258k approved by Parliament in the Estimate. The main
reason for the difference was the necessity to hold cash for capital expenditure that had not been
invoiced by the Cabinet Office.
Accounting Officer and Auditors - In accordance with Schedule 1(16) of the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, the Speaker’s Committee appointed Jolyon
Jackson CBE, the Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer. Responsibilities as Accounting Officer
are set out in section 2.1.1.
The Comptroller and Auditor General was appointed as the Commission’s external auditor under
Schedule 1 (15) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. A
notional cost of £15k (2017/18 £15k) was incurred on external audit. Internal audit and other
services were provided by Gateway Assure at a cost of £10,710 (2017/18 £9,486).
Payment Practice - The Commission has a target of paying 90 per cent of suppliers within 10
working days of receipt of goods or services, or within 10 working days of receipt of the invoice,
whichever is later.
Payment practice results remain extremely high and payments within 10 days have further
increased. The results reflect the far better performance of back office services generally since
the Commission moved them in-house in 2015/16.

2018/19
2017/18

Percentage paid within
30 days
99.70%
99.74%

Percentage paid
within 10 days
98.49%
99.23%

Using the numbers of payment runs made to calculate average payment run amounts and
dividing this by our average daily purchases we can calculate that it takes us on average 5.4 days
to pay suppliers.
2018/19
2017/18

Supplier days
5.4 days
4.9 days

Community and the Environment – Considering local communities is central to our work in
providing fair electoral arrangements.
Working with the Government Property Agency and Transport for London (who provide our
accommodation), the Commission undertakes to reduce the direct and indirect environmental
impacts associated with its operations by:

complying with applicable legislation and regulation
reducing waste and increasing recycling

encouraging and supporting staff to consider environmental issues


providing showers, bicycle storage, cycle loans and season ticket loans
Equalities and Diversities- The Commission values diversity and endeavours to achieve
equality of opportunity. We oppose all forms of discrimination and strive to ensure that no job
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applicant or employee faces discrimination. The Commission has policies to promote equality for
staff, commissioners and customers, the impacts of which are regularly reviewed:

Equality & Diversity in Employment
Equal Pay Policy

The Commission’s Equality & Diversities compliance is overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee.
The Commission has two specific objectives for 2019/20:

Providing Equality & Diversity awareness training for staff and for Commissioners and
Managers

Relaunching an Equalities & Diversity Group for the Commission
We undertook equality impact assessments on relevant policies and procedures throughout
2018/19. In addition to arrangements for consultation and monitoring, the assessment process
helps to develop effective policies that meet the needs of all users.
Interests, Gifts and Hospitality - Commissioners and staff abide by a code of conduct and
register any gifts or hospitality that they have received or been offered. They list external interests
through a Register of Interests for Commissioners and Directors. This is updated annually and
available on the Commission’s website. The Gifts & Hospitality Register is provided for review at
each Audit & Risk Committee meeting.
1.2.3

Communications and Public Affairs

The Commission’s communications and public affairs work has focused on three areas this year:
1.
2.
3.

Supporting the review programme by publicising consultations and recommendations to
maximise local authority and community involvement in our reviews and responding to
enquiries.
Delivering the legislative requirements of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 in relation to laying Draft Orders.
Developing policies, procedures and products to improve the way the Commission engages
with local authorities and members of the public.

The aims were supported by specific actions:


We launched 50 public consultations relating to electoral reviews during 2018/19. The
Commission also published Final Recommendations for 34 reviews.



As a result of our public consultation exercises, we received 5,753 responses from
members of the public and local organisations to inform our decision making. This was, an
increase of 45% compared to 2017/18.



The Commission successfully made 34 electoral change Orders that were laid in both
Houses of Parliament under the negative resolution procedure.



The Commission has continued to pursue a ‘digital by default’ approach to public
engagement. We have agreed a series of mapping and user improvements to our
consultation portal to generate a higher quantity and quality of evidence in public
consultations.



The Commission again attended the Local Government Association Annual Conference
where we made contacts with councillors and senior officers from local authorities across
England.
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Correspondence
Our service standards relating to correspondence, and our performance, are detailed
below.
Type of
Request
Submissions
on review
consultations

Requests
Response Service
Responses sent
Received
Standard
by deadline
18/19
18/19
17/18
17/18
5,753

Percentage within
deadline
18/19
17/18

3,964

15
working
days

5,70513

3,867

99%

98%

714

7

88%

100%

Complaints
(stage 1)

8

7

15
working
days

Complaints
(stage 2)

4

1

20
working
days

4

1

100%

100%

Complaints
(stage 3)

3

1

20
working
days

3

1

100%

100%

Freedom of
Information
Requests

22

16

20
working
days

22

15

100%

94%

Website hits
2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

865,184

620,000

420,000

Jolyon Jackson CBE

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer, 15/07/2019

13 The Commission introduced a new system and process for managing its correspondence midway through 2018/19 which
includes an automated response to submissions followed by the production of a website reference number at a slightly later date.
The second part of the process is new, and we will not measure a full year’s information until 2019/20. This year we are therefore
measuring the first acknowledgement only which is comparable to previous years.
14 The Stage 1 Complaint response missed the deadline through staff sickness. A holding response was sent within the deadline
and the actual response was a few days late.
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2.0 Accountability Report

2.1 Corporate Governance Report
2.1.1 Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities
Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, the Speaker’s
Committee has directed the Local Government Boundary Commission for England to prepare
resource accounts detailing the resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the
use of resources during the year. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Commission and of its net resource outturn,
application of resources, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) and to:





observe the Accounts Direction issued by HM Treasury including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies consistently
make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the FReM have been followed
and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts
prepare the accounts on a going concern basis

The Speaker’s Committee has appointed the Chief Executive as Accounting Officer of the
Commission.
The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper records and for safeguarding the Commission’s assets, are set out in Managing Public
Money published by HM Treasury.
The Accounting Officer confirms that the Annual Report and Accounts is fair, balanced and
understandable.
The Accounting Officer confirms that he has taken personal responsibility for the annual report
and accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.
Disclosure of information to the Auditor’s
As far as the Accounting Officer is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
entity’s auditors are unaware.
The Accounting Officer has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that
information.
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2.1.2 Governance Statement
Scope of Responsibility
LGBCE was established as an independent public body under the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009 on 1 April 2010: it previously formed part of the
Electoral Commission as a separate Committee. We are accountable to Parliament directly
through the Speaker’s Committee, chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons.
The Chief Executive and Accounting Officer is personally responsible to Parliament for the
organisation and quality of management in the Commission, including our use of public money. In
discharging our overall responsibility, we are responsible for putting in place proper
arrangements for the governance of our affairs and facilitating the effective exercise of our
functions including arrangements for the management of risk.
This statement explains how the Commission complies with its governance framework and meets
the governance requirements in Managing Public Money published by HM Treasury.
The purpose of the Governance Statement
The Commission has a Corporate Governance Framework, which sets down our values and
principles, how we are accountable, and how we conduct business. This is consistent with the
principles of Corporate governance code for central government departments, published by HM
Treasury and the Cabinet Office in April 2017 so far as is relevant, and is reviewed annually.
The governance framework comprises the behaviours, values, systems and processes by which
the Commission is directed and controlled. It enables the Commission to monitor achievement of
strategic objectives and to consider whether the objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate,
cost-effective reviews.
The process used for gathering assurances for the preparation of the annual governance
statement provide an opportunity for the Accounting Officer to consider the robustness of the
governance arrangements in place. The exercise also helps to highlight those areas where
improvement is required.
Proportionality
The Commission recognises its governance responsibilities but is aware that, as a small
organisation, it should strike a balance between allocating resources to meet business obligations
and complying with regulations, legislation and other requirements often more suited to larger
organisations, with a larger corporate infrastructure. The Commission (specifically through its
delegation to the Audit and Risk Committee, ARC) continually assess whether governance
activities and requirements are, in their application, proportionate to an organisation the size of
the Commission. If the Commission does not feel that an action or requirement is proportionate, it
seeks to make those asking aware of the possible consequences and to offer another solution.
The Governance Structure
Mission/ Aims/ Objectives - The Commission has adopted a Mission that reflects its role in law
and is underpinned by strategic aims and objectives. The Nolan Principles (the basis of ethical
standards expected of public office holders) have been adopted by Commissioners and where
relevant all staff.
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Accountability - Commissioners, acting as a Board, are accountable to the Speaker’s
Committee and provide strategic leadership and decision making on electoral reviews and related
matters. They also agree our five-year corporate plan, our annual account and budget.
The Speaker’s Committee - The Speaker’s Committee was established under Section 2(1) of
the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000. Its functions in relation to LGBCE are
set out in Schedule 1 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act
2009 and include:









examining the annual financial estimates and laying them before the House of Commons,
with or without modification.
our Main Supply Estimate was agreed in April 2018.
o
examining the five-year plan and forward resource estimates and laying them before
Parliament, with or without modification
o
our five-year plan was agreed in April 2018
receiving the annual report and accounts
o
our Annual Report for 2017/18 was laid in Parliament in July 2018
receiving reports from the Comptroller and Auditor General on the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness on our use of resources each parliamentary term.
designating the Commission’s Accounting Officer; and
reporting to the House of Commons on how it has carried out its functions

Commission attendance - The members of the Commission, and their attendance at
Commission meetings throughout the year were:
Commissioner

Role

Colin Mellors

Chair

Susan Johnson

Joined/
Left

Meetings
Attendance
14 Meetings

out
of
14

%
100%

Commissioner

12 Meetings

14

86%

Peter Maddison

Commissioner

13 Meetings

14

93%

Steve Robinson

Commissioner

12 Meetings

14

86%

Andrew Scallan

Commissioner

14 Meetings

14

100%

Amanda Nobbs

Commissioner

12 Meetings

12

100%

Joined
June 2018

Remuneration Committee - This year the Remuneration Committee met once, in August 2018,
to agree the pay award for 2018/19. The Commission had set aside a budget provision for when
the pay award was agreed. In 2018/19 all Commissioners were members of the Committee.
Audit and Risk Committee – Members and their roles were:
Commissioner

Role

Peter Maddison

Chair throughout the year

Susan Johnson

Member throughout the year

Lizzie Peers

Independent Advisor throughout the year
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During 2018/19, the work of the ARC was informed by its annual plan, and covered five main
work areas:

Area
1 Audit & Risk
Committee

Commentary
The Committee achieved aims for the year:







Reviewed its effectiveness and agreed improvement measures
which have been acted on.
Instigated an annual meeting with auditors, without officers’ present.
Reviewed inherent risk scores.
Commissioned a fundamental review of the Assurance Framework.
Agreed to appoint a Board ‘champion’ for Equalities and Diversity.
Oversaw the health and safety aspects of the office move.
Reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

2 Annual Report &
Accounts and
External Audit

The Committee achieved its aims:



Draft and final versions of the accounts were approved by ARC
The NAO plan and management letter were examined and agreed

3 Policy Reviews
and Updates



Reviews of ten policies were carried out against a plan to review 13.
Policies reviewed included the Finance Manual and the Corporate
Governance Framework. The three policies not reviewed were
deferred to our May 2019 meeting.

4 Internal Audit

The Committee:



5 Scrutiny of
Business Activities

Reviewed the Internal Auditor’s ‘annual statement’ and the results of
the 2018/19 internal audits.
Helped to develop the future internal audit plan and strategy.

The Committee looked in depth at several business areas including:







Information security
Detailed review costs
A report on gender pay gap
GDPR implementation
Lessons learned from the office move
Benchmarking of back office services.

Internal Control Questionnaires – These were completed by all staff and members of the ARC.
The process identifies areas where internal control weaknesses may exist and if any training, or
policy and risk requirements, are required. The full questionnaire is discussed annually by the
Management Team.
Last year’s actions together with issues arising this year are reported below:
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2018/19
Benenden Health benefits awareness

ACTION REQUIRED
Redistribute policy and details of scheme and
remind staff of link on SharePoint

Some staff indicated that they have
not discussed Learning &
Development needs with their
manager

Planning and needs – take forward as part of
Workforce Strategy plan

Workplace stress management
awareness

Address as part of management training in
2019/20

2017/18

ACTION TAKEN

Risk management awareness

Planned for July 2019

Business continuity awareness

Internal training, Policy update and distribution

Personal details correct

Personal details update form on SharePoint (first
annual exercise due in April 2019)

Standing Orders/ Delegated Powers & Financial Policies - these provide a procedural
framework within which the Commission discharges its business.
Other Policies & Procedures - The Commission has agreed policies and procedures that
underpin its governance and internal control arrangements. These include but are not limited to:
A Code of Conduct for Commissioners, staff, and any contractors and consultants engaged by
the Commission, and policies on declarations of interest, gifts and hospitality, staff management
and human resources, risk management, fraud and corruption, whistle blowing and complaints/
correspondence. All policies and procedures are reviewed and amended periodically.
Risk Management - During the year the Commission has revisited inherent risk scores and
developed an assurance framework, identified controls and lines of defence and began a
programme of deep dives into our control processes.
The Corporate Risk Register is used to develop the Internal Audit programme for the year.
The Commission’s top risks (before controls and assurances) are;
1) Failure to gain Speaker’s Committee Support - The Commission takes seriously liaison
with the Speaker, his Committee and the Committee Clerks.


2)

Controls in this area include: frequent dialogue, regular reporting of key documents and
plans, maintain regular contact with Speaker’s Clerk, business and corporate plan, the
Audit & Risk Committee, good relationships with the Treasury and MHCLG.
Information Security Management - This is a key risk for most organisations as
developments and increases in cyber-attacks continue.
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Controls in this area include: annual training for staff and Commissioners, cyber security
reviews and penetration testing, regular reviews of Information Security Policies and deep
dives in this area, firewalls and IT backups, information handouts for staff, the role of the
ARC and purchase of suitable software (Apex Assure).



Commission or Audit & Risk Committee becomes inquorate - This is a risk which is, to
a degree, outside of our control, but nevertheless can have a large impact on LGBCE’s
ability to conduct its business.

3)



Controls in this area include: committee and subcommittee structures within the
Commission, early recruitment processes, dialogue with MHCLG.

Internal Audit - The Commission’s internal auditor for 2018/19 was Gateway Assure, who began
a 3-year contract in 2017/18 to provide the Commission’s Internal Audit Service. Internal audit
reviews are compliant with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2013 and the
Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) 2013.
The risk-based programme of audits for the year was discussed and approved by the Audit & Risk
Committee. For completed audits, the internal auditors provide reports identifying their key
findings, an indication of the level of assurance that can be based on their findings and
recommendations for action. Internal audit reports are distributed to the senior management team,
the Audit & Risk Committee and the Commission’s external auditors.
Internal Audits in 2018/19
Area

Rating

Corporate Governance

Substantial 15

HR Succession Planning

Substantial

Procurement & Contracting

Substantial

Risk Management

Substantial

Corporate Planning

Substantial

Key Financial Controls - Budgeting

Substantial

Business Continuity Planning

Substantial

Administration Handbook

Substantial

15

Substantial is the highest rating we can achieve
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Internal Audit Opinion – The Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual internal
audit opinion based on the work carried out by Internal Audit throughout the year.
As the Head of Internal Audit for Gateway Assure, the internal audit service provider to the
LGBCE, I am required to provide the Chief Executive and the Commissioners with a statement
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the LGBCE's risk management, control and governance
processes. In giving my opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The
most that the internal audit service can provide to the organisation is reasonable assurance there
are no major weaknesses in the LGBCE's risk management, control and governance.
In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the following have been considered:










All audits undertaken during 2018/19;
Any follow-up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods;
Significant recommendations not accepted by management and the consequent risks;
The effects of any significant changes in LGBCE's objectives or systems;
Matters arising from previous reports to the Board;
Any limitations which may have been placed on the scope of internal audit;
The extent to which resources constraints may impinge on my ability to meet the full audit
needs of the organisation;
What proportion of LGBCE's internal audit need has been covered to date; and
The results of work performed by other assurance providers.

As a result, I am satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us to
draw a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness (or inadequacy and
ineffectiveness) of the LGBCE's risk management, control and governance processes.
The opinion also takes account of the results of our follow-up work, management responses and
agreed implementation plans regarding which we believe that management have taken or
planned appropriate and timely action to implement recommendations.
Overall in my opinion, based upon this information and the reviews performed during the year,
the organisation has:




adequate and effective risk management;
adequate and effective governance; and
adequate and effective control processes

External Audit - The National Audit Office (NAO) completed the statutory audit of the
Commission’s Annual Report and Accounts and issued an unqualified audit opinion on the
Accounts.
Personal Data Related Incidents - There were no lapses in data security or protected
personal data related incidents reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office over the
financial year.
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) - the Commission became GDPR compliant in
May 2018. Further actions this year have included:
Re-drafting the Commission’s privacy notice in relation to MP’s and Councillors’ names.

Continuing with annual training on GDPR for all staff and Commissioners


Continuing to implement SharePoint and automating our process of document retention and
disposal.
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Reporting and quality of information used by the board - Financial monitoring and budget
information is reviewed quarterly by Commissioners. Risks, assurances and processes are
reviewed at each ARC. The effectiveness of policies and procedures is regularly reviewed and
updated by both the ARC and the Commission.
The Commission finds the quality of the data used by the Board acceptable as any changes to
information received is explained clearly and management information produced is summarised
from detailed data which is available if required. The ARC is tasked with ensuring that the
Commission can rely on the processes, procedures and information the Commission uses.
Chief Executive Summary - I am satisfied that there are no significant deficiencies in financial
management, internal control, risk management or governance.

Jolyon Jackson CBE

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer, 15/07/2019
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2.2 Remuneration & Staffing Report
2.2.1 Remuneration Report
Commissioners - Commissioners are appointed by Royal Warrant to exercise the
Commission’s functions described in the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000.
Commissioners were paid a daily fee of £339 (2017/18 £332) for each day worked during
2018/19. The Chair was paid a daily rate of £386 (2017/18 £378). Commissioners do not receive
a salary and are not able to join LGBCE’s government pension schemes. Commissioners’ fees
increase on 1 April each year by the percentage increase paid to High Court Judges as part of
the Senior Salaries Review Body’s work. In 2018/19 Commissioners received a 2% increase.
The fees received by the Commissioners during the year are set out below. These amounts
include fees earned during the period, but not yet paid.
SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Commissioner
Professor Colin Mellors (Chair)
Susan Johnson (joined February 2018)
Peter Maddison
Steve Robinson (joined November 2017)
Andrew Scallan (joined November 2017)
Amanda Nobbs (joined June 2018)
Sir Tony Redmond (left March 2018)
Dr Peter Knight (left November 2017)
Alison Lowton (left April 2018)
TOTAL COMMISSIONERS

2018/19
£27,792
£8,301
£14,570
£18,120
£19,648
£13,380
£101,81116

2017/18
£23,436
£1,162
£12,948
£4,814
£6,308
£8,300
£7,636
£13,944
£78,548

Independent Member of ARC
Lizzie Peers

£2,032

£996

Directors/ Senior Management Team - The remuneration of the Chief Executive and
Directors and the framework for the remuneration of other staff is agreed by the Remuneration
Committee.
In setting remuneration, the Committee has regard to the following considerations:





needing to recruit, retain and motivate suitably able and qualified people
the Commission’s improvement plans, including the requirement to meet its output
targets for the delivery of its service within available funds
paragraph 7(6) of Schedule 1 to the 2009 Act, which requires the Commission to have regard
to the desirability of keeping the remuneration and other terms or conditions of employment
of its employees broadly in line with civil servants
wider economic considerations and affordability of recommendations

Several members were appointed part way through 2017/18 and Commissioners led varied number of reviews in the year. The Commission
had an almost full complement of Commissioners during 2018/19

16
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Directors’ salaries plus the pension entitlements are in the table below. This information is
covered by the Comptroller & Auditor General’s audit opinion.
The information in the table is based on payments made during 2018/19. Total remuneration does
not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
Single Total
figure of
remuneration

Chief Executive
(Jolyon Jackson
CBE)
Director of Finance
& Resources
(0.7FTE)
(Lynn Ingram)
Director of
Communications &
Strategy

Salary (£000)

Bonus Payments
(£000)

Pension benefits
(nearest £1,000)
17

Total (£000)

2018/19

2017/18

2018/19

2017/18

2018/19

2017/18

2018/19

2017/18

105 to
110

100 to
105

N/A

N/A

41,000

41,000

145 to
150

145 to
150

50 to 55
(FTE 70
to 75)

50 to 55
(FTE 70
to 75)

0 to 5

0 to 5

20,000

20,000

70 to 75

70 to 75

60 to 65

60 to 65

N/A

N/A

25,000

24,000

85 to 90

85 to 90

(Marcus Bowell)

Salary - ‘Salary’ includes gross salary and overtime (no overtime payments were paid)
Bonus Payments - Bonuses are based on performance levels attained and are made as part
of the appraisal process. Bonuses relate to the performance in the year before they become
payable to the individual. The bonuses reported in 2018/19 relate to performance in 2017/18 and
the comparative bonuses reported for 2017/18 relate to the performance in 2016/17.
Pay Multiples (Subject to Audit)- Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship
between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in LGBCE in the financial year 2018/19
was £105k to £110k (2017/18, £100k to 105k). This was 3.2 times (2017/18, 3.2 times) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £33,119 (2017/18, £32,470).
In 2018/19, 0 (2017/18, 0) employees received remuneration more than the highest-paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £25k to £110k (2017/18, £25k to £105k).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and benefits-inkind. It does not include severance, employer pension contributions and increases in benefits.

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in
any lump sum) less (the contributions made by the individual). The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases
due to a transfer of pension rights.

17
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Band of highest paid staff member (FTE)
Median of all staff pay
Remuneration Ratio

2018/19
£105k to £110k
£33,119
3.2

2017/18
£100k to £105k
£32,470
3.2

Pension Scheme - Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service pension
arrangements. From 1 April 2015 a new pension scheme for civil servants was introduced – the
Civil Servants and Others Pension Scheme or alpha, which provides benefits on a career
average basis with a normal pension age equal to the member’s State Pension Age (or 65 if
higher). From that date all newly appointed civil servants and the majority of those already in
service joined alpha. Prior to that date, civil servants participated in the Principal Civil Service
Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The PCSPS has four sections: 3 providing benefits on a final salary
basis (classic, premium or classic plus) with a normal pension age of 60; and one providing
benefits on a whole career basis (nuvos) with a normal pension age of 65.
These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by
Parliament each year. Pensions payable under classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos and alpha
are increased annually in line with Pensions Increase legislation. Existing members of the
PCSPS who were within 10 years of their normal pension age on 1 April 2012 remained in the
PCSPS after 1 April 2015. Those who were between 10 years and 13 years and 5 months from
their normal pension age on 1 April 2012 will switch into alpha sometime between 1 June 2015
and 1 February 2022. All members who switch to alpha have their PCSPS benefits ‘banked’,
with those with earlier benefits in one of the final salary sections of the PCSPS having those
benefits based on their final salary when they leave alpha. (The pension figures quoted for
officials show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. Where the official has
benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted is the combined value of their benefits in
the two schemes.) Members joining from October 2002 may opt for either the appropriate
defined benefit arrangement or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with an employer
contribution (partnership pension account).
Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 4.6% and 8.05% for members of
classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos and alpha. Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of
final pensionable earnings for each year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three
years’ initial pension is payable on retirement. For premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th
of final pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump
sum. classic plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits for service before 1 October 2002
calculated broadly as per classic and benefits for service from October 2002 worked out as in
premium. In nuvos a member builds up a pension based on his pensionable earnings during their
period of scheme membership. At the end of the scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned
pension account is credited with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in that scheme year and the
accrued pension is uprated in line with Pensions Increase legislation. Benefits in alpha build up
in a similar way to nuvos, except that the accrual rate in 2.32%. In all cases members may opt to
give up (commute) pension for a lump sum up to the limits set by the Finance Act 2004.
The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. The employer makes a
basic contribution of between 8% and 14.75% (depending on the age of the member) into a
stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee from a panel of providers. The employee
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does not have to contribute, but where they do make contributions, the employer will match these
up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the employer’s basic contribution).
Employers also contribute a further 0.5% of pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrallyprovided risk benefit cover (death in service and ill health retirement).
The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when they reach
pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the scheme if they are
already at or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members of classic, premium and classic
plus, 65 for members of nuvos, and the higher of 65 or State Pension Age for members of alpha.
(The pension figures quoted for officials show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – as
appropriate. Where the official has benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted is the
combined value of their benefits in the two schemes but note that part of that pension may be
payable from different ages.)
Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the website
www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV) – A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in
their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has
accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement which the
Accrued
pension at
pension age
as at
31/03/19

Real
increase in
pension &
related lump
sum at age
65

CETV at
31/03/19

CETV at
31/03/18

Real
increase in
CETV

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Jolyon Jackson

10 to 15

0 to 2.5

191

138

32

Lynn Ingram

5 to 10

0 to 2.5

74

53

10

Marcus Bowell

10 to 15

0 to 2.5

114

84

9

SUBJECT TO
AUDIT

member has transferred to the Civil Service pension arrangements. They also include any
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their buying additional pension
benefits at their own cost. CETVs are worked out in accordance with The Occupational Pension
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 and do not take account of any
actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due
when pension benefits are taken.
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Real Increase in CETV – This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It
does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
For 2018/19, employers’ contributions of £175k were payable under the arrangements (17/18,
£172k) at one of three rates in the range 20.9% to 24.5% (17/18, 20.9% to 24.5%) of
pensionable pay, based on salary bands. Employer contributions are reviewed every four years
and changed from April 2015. The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are accrued, not
when the costs are incurred, and include past experience of the scheme.
For 2019/20 employer’s contribution rates for the Civil Service will rise significantly due to the
latest actuarial valuation and a change in the governments formula for calculating the extent of
pension commitments in the future. We expect an additional £55k of costs from 2019/20 and the
Speakers Committee has agreed this as an addition to our revenue budget from 2019/20.
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2.2.2

Staffing Report 18

Staff numbers and related costs
Staff costs (subject to audit) comprise:

Total
844
107
100
175
1,226
1,226

Wages and salaries
Fees
Social Security Costs
Other Pension Costs
Sub total
Total net costs

2018/19
Permanently
Employed Staff
Others
£000
844
0
92
175
1,111
1,111

2017/18
Commissioners
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
107
8
0
115
115

Total
£000

856
80
98
172
1,206
1,206

Average numbers of persons employed (subject to audit)

Total

Total FTEs

26.9

2018/19
Permanently
Employed Staff
Others
FTE's
20.1

0.0

2017/18
Commissioners

Total
FTE's

6.8

26.6

Staff policies - The Commission’s human resource policies aim to achieve good performance,
job satisfaction and motivation. Staff are encouraged to develop their experience, seek further
training and contribute to decision-making.
The Commission gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment made by
disabled persons including:




having regard to their aptitudes and abilities;
making reasonable adjustments for,
arranging appropriate training for employees of the company who have become disabled
persons during the period when they were employed by the company

The policies applied during the year for the training, career development and promotion of
disabled persons employed by the Commission were:






18

Equality & diversity in employment policy and procedure
Recruitment policy
Dignity at work
Sick pay and sickness absence management policy
Work related stress.

Commissioner numbers include the Independent Advisor to the Audit Committee
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Sickness Data
Days lost to sickness

Days lost to sickness

Average PP

2018/19
2017/18

144 19
57

6.88
2.15

Expenditure on consultancy – was £245.
Consultancy spend
General Business
HR & Payroll
IT

2018/19
£245
£0
£0

2017/18
£0
£440
£419

Off-payroll engagements – There were no off-payroll engagements.
Staff survey – We undertook a Staff Survey for the first time in 2018. We compared our results
to the Annual Civil Service People Survey (CSPS) for 2017 which has been taken regularly since
2009 across a significant number Civil Service bodies. Some of our results could be compared
directly with questions or themes from the CSPS Survey and the comparisons are shown below;
LGBCE Staff Survey 2018
Overall response rate
I know what is expected of me
I have the equipment and software needed to do
my job effectively
I feel valued at work
I am well supported by my line manager
There is someone who encourages my
development
I have regular opportunities to express my views
and feelings
I believe I am doing a good job
I can manage my workload effectively
My achievements are acknowledged by my line
manager
I have opportunities to learn and develop my skills
I am treated fairly and equally
I understand my role within the organisation
I believe my work contributes towards the
objectives of the organisation
I am able to demonstrate my strengths and
weaknesses
I am clear about my roles and responsibilities
I can use annual leave without an adverse effect on
work

85%
88%

Civil Service People Survey 2017
Overall response rate
I have clear work objectives

67%
75%

88%

I have the tools I need to do my job effectively

70%

53%
76%

I feel valued for the work I do
My Manager (combined theme)

66%
70%

41%

Learning & Development (combined theme)

53%

76%
94%

I have the opportunity to contribute my views before
decisions are made that affect me
I believe I am doing a good job
I have an acceptable workload

65%

My performance is evaluated fairly

65%

53%
94%

Learning & Development (combined theme)
I am treated fairly at work
My manager helps me understand how I contribute
to the organisations objectives
I understand how my work contributed to the
objectives of my organisation

53%
80%

65%

My manager (combined theme)

70%

82%

My manager (combined theme)

70%

59%

Balance between work life and private life

68%

65%

94%
94%

39%
77%
61%

66%
83%

Following the survey, the Organisational Management Team (OMT) identified the main areas on
which to focus activity to drive further improvement over the course of the year. These included
strengthening internal communications and looking at our office layout. We also:
discussed the results with staff and constructed a short-term plan to take what immediate

action we could

agreed that the focus of our Business Improvement Plan for 2019/20 will be organisational
19

The significant increase relates to one staff member on long term sick
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culture
added our actions and targets to our newly-developed Workforce Strategy
discussed the survey results at both Equalities & Diversities training for staff and
Commissioners
used the results as part of strategic discussions between Commissioners and the
Management Team

Trade Union membership – A proportion of our staff belong to the Public and Commercial
Services Union (PCS), we have a staff representative who can use work time for official duties
and union meetings take place in office time. Management meet at least annually with union
representatives.
Occupational health and safety - Our health and safety policy is reviewed bi-annually and
available to all our staff. In addition, procedures, guidance and risk assessments are in place
covering our core activities. Our Health and Safety Officer oversees our arrangements and
reports to our Management Team monthly.
We initiate independent health and safety audits of our premises each month, which entail the
inspection of the physical working environment and the review of the safety management
systems in place. The intention of these audits is to ascertain the suitability of our current health
and safety arrangements and to advise the health and safety group on any improvements that
should be made.
Exit packages (Subject to Audit)
Reporting of Civil Service & other compensation schemes – exit packages
Redundancy and other departure costs are paid in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the Superannuation Act 1972.
Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the department has agreed
early retirements, the additional costs are met by the department and not by the Civil Service
pension scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme and are not included
in the table.
There were no departures for 2018/19 with special payments and none for 2017/18.
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Diversity Information 20

Jolyon Jackson CBE

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer, 15/07/2019

A staff and Commissioner Survey gathered ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, age and disability information. Of a total possible number of
staff and Commissioners of 27, 24 (89%) responded.

20
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2.2

Parliamentary Accountability & Audit Report (Subject to Audit)

Statement of Parliamentary Supply
In addition to the primary statements prepared under IFRS, the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) requires us to prepare
a Statement of Parliamentary Supply (SoPS) and supporting notes to show resource outturn against the Supply Estimate presented to
Parliament, in respect of each budgetary control limit. The SoPs and related notes are are subject to audit.
Summary of Resource and Capital Outturn 2018/19
2018/19

Estimate

SoPs
Note

Departmental Expenditure Limit
- Resource
- Capital
Annually Managed Expenditure
- Resource
- Capital
Total Budget
Non-Budget
- Resource
Total

1.1
1.2
1.1
1.2

- Total Resource
- Total Capital
Total

Net Cash Requirement

SoPs
Note

Voted

Non-Voted

£000

Total

Voted

2,119
68

2,119
68

Administration Costs

2

SoPs
Note

1.1

£000

Total

2,086
5

33
63

1,937
164

2,187

0
0
2,187

2,091

0

0
0
2,091

0
0
96

0
0
2,101

2,187

0
2,187

2,091

0

0
2,091

0
96

0
2,101

2,119
68
2,187

2,119
68
2,187

2,086
5
2,091

0

2,086
5
2,091

33
63
96

1,937
164
2,101

2018/19
Estimate

Outturn

£000

2,258
2018/19
Estimate

£000
Administration

Non-Voted

2,086
5

£000
Net Cash Requirement

2017/18
Voted
Outturn
outturn
compared
to
Estimate :
saving/
(excess)
£000
£000

Outturn

2,043

Outturn

£000
0

0

2017/18
Outturn Outturn
compared
to
Estimate :
saving/
(excess)
£000
£000
215

1,858

2017/18
Outturn Outturn
compared
to
Estimate :
saving/
(excess)
£000
£000
0

0

Figures in the shaded areas are voted totals subject to Parliamentary control. In addition, although not a separate voted limit, any
breach of the administration budget will also result in an excess vote. All expenditure is designated as Programme Costs and
therefore there are no administration costs. The revenue underspend of £33k is due to minor variations from budget.
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SOPS1 Net Outturn
SOPS 1.1 Analysis of net resource outturn by section
2018/19

2017/18

OUTTURN

Administration

Gross

Income
£000

ESTIMATE

Net
Total

Programme

Net

Gross

Income
£000

Net

Net
Total

£000

Outturn

Net total
compared
Net total
to
compared
estimate
to
adjusted
estimate
for
virements

Total

£000

£000

Spending in
Departmental
Expenditure
Limit
Voted
Local Govmnt
Boundary
Commission
(DEL)

0

0

0

2,086

0

2,086

2,086

2,119

33

33

1,937

Total

0

0

0

2,086

0

2,086

2,086

2,119

33

33

1,937

SOPS 1.2 Analysis of net capital outturn by section
2018/19

2017/18

OUTTURN

Gross

Income

ESTIMATE

Net
Total

Net

£000

Net
Total

£000

Outturn

Net total
compared
Net total
to
compared
estimate
to
adjusted
estimate
for
virements

Total

£000

£000

Spending in Departmental Expenditure
Limit
Voted
Local Govmnt Boundary Commission (DEL)

5

0

5

5

68

63

63

164

Total

5

0

5

5

68

63

63

164
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SOPS 2
Reconciliation of Net Resource Outturn to Net Cash Requirement
2018/19

SoPs
Note

Resource Outturn
Capital Outturn

1.1
1.2

Accruals to cash adjustments
Depreciation
External audit fee
Adjustments to reflect movements in working balances:
Increase/(decrease) in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in payables
Net Cash Requirement

Estimate

Net total
outturn
compared
Outturn
with
estimated
saving/
(excess)
£000

2,119
68

2,086
5

33
63

(40)
(15)

(41)
(15)

1
0

0
126

(29)
37

29
89

2,258

2,043

215
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Parliamentary Accountability Disclosures
Losses and special payments (Subject to Audit)
There are no losses or special payments to report.
Other payments (Subject to Audit)
There are no other significant payments to report.
Remote contingent liabilities (Subject to Audit)
There are no remote contingent liabilities to report.
Fees and Charges (Subject to Audit)
The Commission does not charge for services and as such there are no fees and charges to
report.
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2.3.1 Comptroller & Auditor General’s Certificate & Report
THE CERTIFICATE AND REPORT21 OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL TO
THE HOUSE OF COMMONS
Opinion on financial statements
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Local Government Boundary Commission
for England for the year ended 31 March 2019 under the Local Democracy, Economic Development
and Construction Act 2009. The financial statements comprise: the Statements of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity; and the related
notes, including the significant accounting policies. These financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out within them.
I have also audited the Statement of Parliamentary Supply and the related notes, and the
information in the Accountability Report that is described in that report as having been audited.
In my opinion:


the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Commission’s affairs as
at 31 March 2019 and of the Commission’s net operating cost for the year then ended; and



the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and HM Treasury directions
issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects:


the Statement of Parliamentary Supply properly presents the outturn against voted
Parliamentary control totals for the year ended 31 March 2019 and shows that those totals
have not been exceeded; and



the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial
statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis of opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (UK) and
Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’.
My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate. Those standards require me and my
staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2016. I am
independent of the Local Government Boundary Commission for England in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit and the financial statements in the UK. My staff
and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe
that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.

.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
I am required to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Commission’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention
in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to
cease to continue as a going concern. I have nothing to report in these respects.
Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accounting
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the
Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000.
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), I exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:


identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England’s internal control.



evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the Statement of
Parliamentary Supply properly presents the outturn against voted Parliamentary control totals and
that those totals have not been exceeded. The voted Parliamentary control totals are Departmental
Expenditure Limits (Resource and Capital), Annually Managed Expenditure (Resource and
Capital), Non-Budget (Resource) and Net Cash Requirement. I am also required to obtain evidence
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Other Information
The Accounting Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
information included in the annual report, other than the parts of the Accountability Report
described in that report as having been audited, the financial statements and my auditor’s report
thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial
statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have
performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required
to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:


the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009;



in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not
identified any material misstatements in the Performance Report or the Accountability
Report; and



the information given in the Performance and Accountability Reports for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:


adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not
been received from branches not visited by my staff; or



the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or



I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or



the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s guidance.

Report
I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies

Date

17/07/19

Comptroller and Auditor General

National Audit Office
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria
London
SW1W 9SP
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Year Ended 31/03/2019
2018/19
Programme Expenditure:
Staff costs
Other costs
Net Operating Cost for the year ended 31/03/2019

Note
2
2

2017/18
£000
1,226
860
2,086

1,206
731
1,937

There is no other comprehensive expenditure

The notes on pages 60 to 66 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

Note

31/03/2018
£000

31/03/2019
£000

154

67
123
190

115

14
53
71
138

269

328

(322)

(254)
(99)
(353)

Total assets less currrent liabilities

(53)

(25)

Total Assets less liabilities

(53)

(25)

(53)
(53)

(25)
(25)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

3
4

61
93

6
6
7

16
22
77

Total assets
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

8
8

(218)
(104)

Taxpayer's equity
General Fund

The notes on pages 60 to 66 form part of these accounts.

Jolyon Jackson CBE

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer, 15/07/2019
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Statement of Cash Flows at 31/03/2019
2018/19
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net operating cost
Adjustment for non-cash transactions
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade, other payables and other liabilities
less movements in payables not passing through the SoCNE
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Purchase of intangible fixed assets
Proceeds of disposal of property, plant, and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Note

2
6
8

3
4

Cash flows from financing activities
From the Consolidated Fund (Supply) - current year
Net financing
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the
period before adjustment for receipts and payments to the
Consolidated Fund

£000

2017/18

(2,086)
56
29
(31)
96
(1,936)

(1,937)
32
40
228
(159)
(1,796)

(107)
0
0
(107)

0
(62)
0
(62)

2,049
2,049

1,915
1,915

6

57

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the
period after adjustment for receipts and payments to the
Consolidated Fund

8

6

57

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

7

71
77

14
71

7

The notes on pages 60 to 66 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayer's Equity
Year ended 31/03/2019
Note

Balance at 31/03/2017
Net Parliamentary Funding -deemed
Net Parliamentary Funding -drawn down
Supply (payable)/receivable adjustment
7
Consolidated Fund Extra Receipts (CFERS) payable to the Consolidated Fund
Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year
Non-Cash Adjustments:
Non-cash charges - external auditors remuneration

2

Balance at 31/03/2018

General Fund
£000
39
14
1,915
(71)
(1,937)

15
(25)

Net Parliamentary Funding -deemed
Net Parliamentary Funding -drawn down
Supply (payable)/receivable adjustment
8
Consolidated Fund Extra Receipts (CFERS) payable to the Consolidated Fund
Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year
Non-Cash Adjustments:
Non-cash charges - external auditors remuneration
Balance at 31/03/2019

2

71
2,049
(77)
(2,086)

15
(53)

The notes on pages 60 to 66 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts
1. Statement of Accounting Policies
1.1 Introduction - These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2018/19

Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting policies contained
in the FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted or interpreted for the
public sector.

Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Commission for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. They have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
In addition to the primary statements prepared under IFRS, the FReM also requires the
Commission to prepare a Statement of Parliamentary Supply and supporting notes, showing
outturn against Estimate in terms of the net resource requirement and the net cash requirement.
This Statement is included under Section 2.3 of the annual report (Parliamentary Accountability)

1.2 Accounting Convention - These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention
modified to account for any material revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets.

1.3 Newly issued accounting standards implemented or due to be implemented - The
Commission provides disclosure if it has not yet applied a new accounting standard and known or
reasonably estimates relevant to the possible impact that the application of the new standard will have on
the resource accounts. IFRS 9 (relating to Financial instruments – we do not have any that will be materially
affected by this change) and IFRS 15 (relating to customer income - we do not receive any) came into force
in 2018/19 and do not affect the Commission Resource Accounts. The Commission has also not adopted
any standards early. One new standard has been issued but is not yet effective; IFRS16 (Leases - wef
01/01/2019). IFRS16 recognises rights to use assets (the most significant for us being our office
accommodation). Some of the leases held will require the recognition of a right of use asset and a liability
for the future lease payment commitments in the Statement of Financial position. Our existing future lease
commitments are disclosed in note 11. We are in the process of assessing the impact of the new
accounting standard on the leases held as a lessee and are therefore not as yet able to give an accurate
estimate of the impact of this on our financial statements.
1.4 Property, plant & equipment - are presented at carrying value. On initial recognition assets are

valued at cost including any costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working
condition. The minimum level capitalisation of an individual tangible non-current asset is £5,000. Items
below the capitalisation threshold individually acquired in a given asset class or pool are not capitalised. All
non-property operational assets are deemed to be short-life or low value assets and are therefore valued on
the basis of depreciated replacement costs as an approximation of fair value.

1.5 Intangible assets - Purchased computer software licenses, costs associated with website
enhancement and the associated costs of implementation are capitalised as intangible assets where
expenditure of £5,000 or more is incurred. Website enhancements not yet in use are recognised as Assets
under Construction (AUC).
1.6 Depreciation - Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write assets down to estimated residual
value on a straight–line basis over their estimated useful lives. Assets in the course of construction are not
depreciated. Lives are normally in the following ranges:
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Intangible Assets
Websites & developed software
Technology
Equipment
Software Licences

Up to 3 years
Up to 6 years
Up to 3 years
Up to 10 years
Over the life of the licence

1.7 Operating Income - The Commission has no operating income and relies solely on Parliamentary
Supply Funding.

1.8 Expenditure (Note 2) - reflects the total costs of service delivery.
1.9 Pensions - Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the Civil Service pension
scheme arrangements which are described in the Remuneration Report. In respect of the employers’
contribution to the scheme, the Commission recognises the contributions payable for the year. The
Commission is unable to determine our share of any future liability to the scheme.
1.10 Operating Leases - Operating lease rentals are charged to the operating cost statement in equal
amounts over the lease term.
1.11 Finance Leases – the Commission has no finance leases.
1.12 Value added tax - The activities of the Commission are outside the scope of VAT and, in general,

output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the
relevant expenditure category. Expenditure is reported inclusive of VAT.

1.13 Operating Segments - The Commission is considered to provide a single function, undertaking

electoral reviews, and in terms of IFRS is considered to be a single operating segment. Management
reporting and decision making is carried out on the basis of a single segment and therefore it is not
considered that any further segmental analysis is necessary to meet the requirements of IFRS8.

1.14 Going Concern –The Commission is financed by amounts drawn from the UK Consolidated Fund,

approved annually by Parliament to meet the Commission’s Net Cash Requirement for the year. The
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019 shows negative tax-payers equity of £65k. This reflects
liabilities accounted for but not yet drawn down from the fund. As with other statutory bodies, the ongoing
financing of the Commission’s activities and related liabilities is met by future drawdowns from the UK
Consolidated Fund to be approved annually by Parliament. Such approval for amounts required for 2019/20
has already been given, and it has accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt a going concern basis
for the preparation of these financial statements.

1.15 Accounting estimates and Judgements - Amortisation and depreciation estimates are included

within the accounts and calculated based on our accounting policies. Accruals are included at actual values
(if known or invoice received after 31st March) or estimated values if not.
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2 Expenditure
2018/19
Staff Costs
Wages & Salaries
Fees
Social Security Costs
Other pension costs

844
107
100
175

Rentals under operating leases:
Buildings

143

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
- Other non current assets
Auditor's remuneration

Other expenditure:
Printing and mapping
Business costs & contracts for services
Stakeholder Engagement
Legal and Professional Fees
Travel, Subsistence and Hospitality
Other Staff Costs
Internal Audit
Statistical Costs
Bank Charges

41
15

134
336
88
34
35
21
11
1
1

£000

1,226

143

56

661

2017/18

856
80
98
172

124

17
15

133
227
116
23
31
35
9
0
1

2,086

1,206

124

32

575
1,937

Note - the total non-cash items included in the Reconciliation of Resources to Net Cash
Requirements comprises:
2018/19
2017/18
£000
Total non-cash transactions as above

56

32

Non-cash items per reconciliation of resources
to net cash requirement

56

32
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3 Property, Plant & Equipment
Property, plant
& equipment
£000

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2018
Additions
Disposals (write down)
At 31 March 2019
Depreciation
At 1 April 2018
Charged in year
At 31 March 2019

Total

98
46
(41)
103

98
46
(41)
103

31
11
42

31
11
42

Net Book Value at

31 March 2019

61

61

Net Book Value at

31 March 2018

67

67

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2017
Additions
At 31 March 2018

32
66
98

32
66
98

Depreciation
At 1 April 2017
Charged in year
At 31 March 2018

28
3
31

28
3
31

Net Book Value at

31 March 2018

67

67

Net Book Value at

31 March 2017

4

4

Property, plant
& equipment

Total

Asset Financing

£000

2018 Owned
Net Book Value at

31 March 2019

61
61

61
61

2017 Owned
Net Book Value at

31 March 2018

67
67

67
67

Disclosure - In our 2017/18 accounts, £41k was accrued for as part of a commitment
for £63k which related to our contribution to the common areas work for our
accomodation at Windsor House. It became known during our preparation of these
accounts for 2018/19 that the Cabinet Office no longer intended to collect this
commitment. In order to adjust for the capital commitment we had made in 2017/18 we
have treated the £41k as a disposal of property in 2018/19. This mean that although we
have spent £46k of capital expenditure during 2018/19,the net capital spend in 2018/19
is £5k
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4 Intangible Assets
Websites

Assets under
construction
£000

Total

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2018
At 31 March 2019

305
305

0
0

305
305

Amortisation
At 1 April 2018
Charged in year
At 31 March 2019

182
30
212

0
0
0

182
30
212

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019
Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

93
123

0
0

93
123

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2017
Additions
Disposals/write offs
At 31 March 2018

281
98
(74)
305

0
0
0
0

281
98
(74)
305

Amortisation
At 1 April 2017
Charged in year
Disposals/write offs
At 31 March 2018

242
14
(74)
182

0
0
0
0

242
14
(74)
182

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

123
39

0
0

123
39
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5 Financial Instruments
All cash requirements are met through the Estimates process, are drawn down from the
consolidated fund, and financial instruments play a limited role in creating risk. Most
financial instruments relate to contracts for non-financial items in line with the Commission’s
expected purchase and usage requirements and the Commission is therefore not exposed to
significant credit, liquidity or market risk.
6 Trade and other receivables

Amounts falling due within one year:
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income
Total receivables

31/03/2019
31/03/2018
£000
16
22
38

14
53
67

7 Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances
Balance at 31 March

2018/19
2017/18
£000
71
14
6
57
77
71

The following balances at 31 March were held at:
Government Banking Service accounts:

77

71

Balance at 31 March

77

71

8 Trade payables and other current liabilities

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade payables
Accruals and deferred income
Short-term staff benefits (earned leave liability)
Amounts issued from the Consolidated Fund for supply but not spent at year end
Total payables

31/03/2019 31/03/2018
£000
28
190
27
77

52
202
28
71

322

353

9. Capital Commitments - The Commission had no capital commitments at 31st March 2019. The
Commissions’ capital commitments at 31st March 2018 was £102,000.
10. Commitments under Operating Leases - Total future minimum lease payments under
operating leases are given in the below.
The figure for commitments within one year has decreased since last year and this reflects an
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overlap between one lease (on accommodation at Millbank Tower) coming to an end and another
one (Windsor House) beginning.

Buildings

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Total non-current assets

2018/19 2017/18
£000
135
541
64
740

150
503
189
842

11. Related Party Transactions - The Commission is an Independent Statutory Body, overseen
and monitored by the Speaker’s Committee. The Speaker’s Committee acts in lieu of a
Government Department as the body to which the Commission reports. It also approves the
Commission’s rolling five-year Corporate Plan and budget annually. The Chair of the
Commission and the Chief Executive attend the Speaker’s Committee at least twice a year in
order to answer any questions Committee members might have on the Commission’s Corporate
Plan and Annual Report.
The Chief Executive is appointed by the Commission. None of the Commissioners, senior
management team, staff or other related parties has undertaken any material transactions with
the Commission during the year except for remuneration which is reported in the remuneration
report (section 2.2.1).
In addition to the Speaker’s Committee, the Commission had transactions with other government
departments including the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, HM
Revenue and Customs, HM Treasury, Department for Work and Pensions, The Government
Legal Department; and with bodies including the National Audit Office and Ordnance Survey.
12. Dilapidations Charges - The Commission has made no provision relating to an exit from
Windsor House as we have invested in and improved the accommodation so do not expect to
incur any charges.
13. Events after the reporting date - In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events
after the reporting period are considered up to the date on which the accounts are authorised for
issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor
General. There are no disclosable post balance sheet events.
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